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THE ADVISORY BOARD IN BRIEF

The Advisory Board Company provides best practice research and analysis to the health care and

education sectors focusing on business strategy operations and general management issues Our

research services are offered through discrete membership programs to more than 2700 hospitals

health systems pharmaceutical and biotech companies health care insurers medical device

companies colleges and universities

Our business model is predicated on the view that there are economies of intellect in the sectors

we serve compelling intellectual advantages to large numbers of health systems corporations

and clinicians as well as colleges universities and educators collaborating to identify ideas with

potential to shape their industries By providing standardized set of services we are able to spread

our largely fixed program cost structure across our membership base of participating organizations

This economic model allows us to provide our members with access to industry best practices at

fraction of the cost of customized analysis performed by major consulting firm

For fixed fee members of each of our programs typically have access to an integrated set of services

designed to provide valuable timely information derived from lessons learned from the industrys

most progressive participants These services can include

Best practice research studies

Executive education seminars

Customized research briefs

Web-based access to content databases decision-support and business intelligence tools

We strive to provide our members with an unparalleled level of service Our hope is that our members

conclude that they do not work with any other organization so dedicated to intelligent service and

that therefore there is little question as to their long-term commitment to working with us



REPRESENTATIVE ADVISORY BOARD MEMBERS
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AnnuM Revenues Adjusted Net lncomM

for sca1 Year EndIng March for Csca $ear2 EndIng MarM 31
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$165.0
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$6.0 million cud $0.3 milFan respectivnl4 in tan henefitn unnocinted with the exercise of employen stock

options recorded uncles GAAP ox cnsh flow train finoscino oc.tivitien in occordonce with FAA 233i



Across the last twelve months the industries we serveand indeed the whole

of the world economyhave undergone unprecedented disruptive change am

proud to report that in these challenging times The Advisory Board Company

remains the trusted guide to the health care and education sectors and continues

to deliver exceptional value to our members through our research analytical tools

and advisory services Our revenue growth and our institutional renewal rate of

88 percent stand as testaments to our privileged position in these industries and to

our members critical need for our work We close the
year more committed than

ever to providing our members the insight and support that they need to address

their most critical business issues

In this regard our achievements across Fiscal Year 2009 were significant Our

timely and thorough response to the economic downturn through our Leadership

Through the Downturn series earned praise from across the membership and

reached thousands of executives at time when our guidance was most needed

Our new program development this year has been similarly robust In health

care we launched new programs to address the high-priority issues of physician

management and revenue integrity as well as the evergreen challenge of improving

the front end of the revenue cycle patient registration We also strengthened our

portfolio in the education sector with new program serving University Business

Executives These launches brought our total number of programs to 41 through

which we now serve membership of more than 2800 of the most progressive

organizations in health care and higher education

While our financial results relative to prior years were impacted by the broader

economy this year we were nonetheless able to grow our revenues hold contract

value steady and continue returning cash to shareholders through our share

repurchase plan We enter Fiscal Year 2010 with solid balance sheet strong cash

position and continued track record of sound financial management Further

our continued expansion of reach and impact across the industries we serve gives

us confidence in our ability to build on our strong
foundation for

years to come
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Premium on Member Impact

Intense focus on driving tangible impact for our members has always been

keystone of our mission In todays environment where executives must defend

their every expense this ideal becomes critical success factor for our business

Never has it been more important to ensure that our organization is nimble that

we uncover timely insights and that we translate ideas quickly into meaningful

performance improvements for our members

Our on-point research and effective delivery channels have allowed us to

achieve these goals again this
year

In recent months we have focused our

agendas increasingly on the urgent issues posed by the economyparticularly

the five critical imperatives of maximizing revenue capture containing supply

costs managing labor costs reprioritizing capital allocation and securing

profitable volumes

That our work here is having concrete impact is undeniable as one recent member

renewal shows With new executive team recently in seat this health system was

making large budget cuts on all outside spending By using our 100-Day Volume

Campaign toolkit to drive specific near-term actions to capture incremental

volume the system realized significant value and the executives decided not only

to renew their membership but also to expand their Advisory Board contract

value by over 40 percent

This story of member impact is just one of hundreds we heard across the year

the health system that discovered over $9 million in cost savings through our labor

efficiency work the hospital that used our physician management tool to reduce

avoidable hospital days for an estimated yearly savings of $800000 the hospital

that achieved over $1 million in savings through supply contract renegotiations

identified through their participation in our supply chain performance program

Each story is validation of our model and testament to the quality of our

insight Further because of our unique collection of content assets built over more

than 20
years we are able to enhance members performance on wide

range
of

both strategic and operational processes providing clear measurable value from

Advisory Board participation building member satisfaction and creating member

relationships that expand over time



Broctciening Our Program Model

it is now five
years

since we launched the Revenue Cycle Performance program the

first of our membership programs anchored around robust data and analytics

tool The intervening years
have shown the

strong
value in these programs unique

marriage of intelligently designed industry-specific business intelligence tools

with research-proven best practices Through the tools institution-specific data

analysis members are able to pinpoint areas of opportunity for performance

improvement through the programs proven best practices members are able to

realize measurable gains

These tools are particularly well suited to harness the power of our extensive

network as they facilitate benchmarking across members in new way Further

their method of embedding best practice into daily workflow drives dramatic

impact Across these programs we have seen tangible results in financial metrics

such as A/R days POS cash collections bad debt and supply costs In addition

members of these programs are also significantly improving operational metrics

including on-time starts surgical suite utilization turnover times and lengths

of stay

These outstanding results along with the acute need for relevant timely and

accessible data have driven strong member attachment to these programs For

our part we are excited at our expanded ability to impact our members critical

decisions on day-to-day basis and we believe that this new level of member

engagement enhances our opportunity to shape the future of health care That

our data and analytics programs open new markets to us command higher price

points anddue to the tools stickinessoffer positive renewal profile further

drive our interest in the area and our belief that they open to us strong growth

trajectory going forward

Certainly continuing our history of strong growth has been challenging in the

current economic climate but we are pleased to have delivered revenue growth

over the last fiscal
year and our confidence in the significant longer-term

opportunity ahead of us is unflagging As such across the
year we continued



to execute on the key components of our growth strategy and made prudent

investments that will position us for sustainable growth as the economy recovers

Several accomplishments in this area are worth highlighting

First our purchase of Crimson Software Inc provided an opportune market

entry into hospital-physician management and we launched our Physician

Management Performance Program on the Crimson platform The timing of the

launch has allowed us to take advantage of the national movement for Health Care

Reform to build the programs momentum In fact two emerging priorities in the

policy debate play directly to the strengths of the offering care coordination with

physicians and meaningful use of health care information technology

Capitalizing on these dynamics we have built an impressive cohort of members

who are already reporting tangible ROT from their participation in the program

We are gratified to see the measurable impact that the program is having as our

members seek to work collaboratively with physicians to improve quality and

cost performance across the physician enterprise Our experience with the launch

of the Physician Management Performance Program has been significant not

just because it provided an immediate asset in an area of high demand but also

because it demonstrated our ability to make sensible opportunistic acquisitions

and to quickly integrate complementary products into our membership model in

ways that provide meaningful value to our members

Second the launches of three additional new programs demonstrate the

effectiveness of our collaborative new program development process our gathering

strength in the higher education sector and our ongoing commitment to growth

Like the Physician Management Performance Program the Revenue Integrity

Performance Program has
gotten

lift from policy-level dynamicsin this case

the national rollout of Medicares Recovery Audit Contractor RAC program

designed to identify and recover improper Medicare payments made to health care

providers The Patient Registration Performance Program addresses economic

pressures by helping members improve their front-end revenue cycle performance

through the proactive management of the patient registration process As with all

of our launches both of these programs were developed in close cooperation with

our members ensuring that they align with the industrys most important issues



This same collaboration was also evident in our launch this year of the University

Business Executive Program our third program targeting institutions of higher

learning University CFOs from Georgetown University Brown University

Indiana University Cornell University the California Institute of Technology

and many other progressive institutions from across the country are actively

participating in our research agenda focused on the critical issues of the day Our robust new

including reconciling the university financing gap enfranchising academic leaders

product development
in business transformation hardwiring cost discipline and making difficult capital

machine strong
allocation choices That we have been able to enlist the

cooperation
of this caliber

of institution as charter members of the program demonstrates the continued batance sheet and

success of our early work in the education sector cash flow expanding

Across the next year we will continue to target three to four program launches addressable market
drawn from our new product pipeline of more than 25 programs in development

committed talent base
As in previous years these new programs will leverage our strong reputation and

our close relationships with the executives who derive substantial value from and unigue bustness

our ability to help them confront complex business problems Looking ahead model positton the
our robust new product development machine strong balance sheet and cash

comicany well Icr
flow expanding addressable market committed talent base and unique business

r1model position the company extremely well for future growth as the economic Lur1 Ln as Liic

environment for our members improves Despite all the challenges of the current economic environment
economic environment our growth orientation remains intact and we are squarely

for our memicers
focused on building scalable high-growth company which provides world-class

programs and services to our health care and higher education memberships improves

Cultivating Our Talent Asset

Nothing is more critical to our ability to guide members through the current

uncharted waters than the talent and expertise of our more than 1000 employees

am proud to report that
everyone throughout the organization has met these

challenging times with commitment engagement and burning drive to execute

at the highest standard The combination of their hard work skill and passion is

the engine that both powers the impact that we are having across the industry and

positions us well for future success



Attracting developing and retaining superior staff at all levels of the organization

is consistently top priority for us and it remains so today Our employee base hails

from the best undergraduate and graduate programs consulting firms and health

care institutions in the world and we continue our focus on nurturing this asset

Because of our exceptional culture our mission and our investment in engaging

and developing our employees we enjoy strong success in both recruitment and

retention With approximately 20000 resumes received annually and an offer

acceptance rate of approximately 80 percent we remain an employer of choice

for star talent in both the local and national job market Further with senior

management retention rates of 95 percent our strong foundation of leadership is

committed extraordinarily innovative and passionate about continuing to grow

the business and to enhance our impact on the greater good

Closing Thoughts

It is The Advisory Board Companys great privilege to work as trusted partner

with our members during these challenging times and it is my personal privilege

to lead team of extremely talented individuals who demonstrate unflagging

commitment to advancing our mission am confident in our future prospects

and our ability to truly effect positive change in the health care and education

industries at this critical moment in history and close with my appreciation for

your continued interest and support

4rga
Robert Musslewhite

Chief Executive Officer
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The Advisor Board Company rind SuhAdiaries

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data The selected financial data presented below as of March 31 2005

2006 2007 2008 and 2009 and for the five fiscal
years

in the period ended March 31 2009 have been derived from our financial state

ments which have been audited by Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm You should read the selected

financial data presented below in conjunction with our financial statements the notes to our financial statements and Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing eisewhere in this Annual Report

Year Ended March 31

In thousands except per share amounts 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Statements of Income Data

Revenue $141649 $165049 5189843 $218971 $230360

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 58904 70959 90129 102291 116556

Member relations and marketing 28563 33667 40204 45890 52292

General and administrative 16452 16135 22815 25269 26725

Depreciation and amortization 1820 1550 2070 3589 5647

Total costs and
expenses 105739 122311 155218 177039 201220

Income from operations 35910 42738 34625 41932 29140

Other income net 3971 5770 6819 6142 2445

Income before income taxes 39881 48508 41444 48074 31585

Provision for income taxes 16534 22866 14049 16012 10117

Net income 23347 25642 27395 32062 21468

Earnings per
share

Net income per share-hasic 1.32 1.35 1.46 1.78 1.31

Net income per share-diluted 1.22 1.29 1.41 172 1.30

\Areighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 17738 18979 18714 17999 16441

Diluted 19161 19902 19448 18635 16560

Year Ended March 31

In thousands except psi share amounts 2007 2008 2009

Stock-based compensation expense included in Statement of Incomet0

Costs and expenses

Cost of services12 4167 4558 4273

Member relations and marketing 2753 2599 2436

General and administrativen 5080 5406 5738

Total costs and
expenses 12000 12563 12447

Income from operations 12000 12563 12447

Net income 7932 8380 8464

Impact on earnings per share

Net income per sharediluted 0.41 0.45 0.51



March 31

unauditedj 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 27867 21678 13195 17907 23746

Marketable securities 125047 146822 146168 132138 70103

Working capital deficit 24421 33703 35018 47371 36640
Total assets 244080 270859 286174 305114 316258

Deferred revenue 81203 99269 116994 144147 170478

Total stockholders equity 145314 147165 138464 122529 98899

March 31

unaudited 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Other Operating Data

Membership programs offered 25 29 32 37 41

Total members 2572 2595 2662 2761 2817

Member institution renewal ratem 92% 90% 89% 90% 88%

Contract value in thousandsf $146137 $170510 $200094 $230806 $230769

Contract value per rnemherm 56819 .6 65707 75167 83595 81920

Fiscal Year Ended March 31

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Reconciliation of GAAP to adjusted resultstsaat

Income from operations as reported 35910 42738 34625 41932 29140

Stock-based expensefe1 8670 7440

Adjusted income from operations 27240 35298 34625 41932 29140

Other income net 3971 5770 6819 6142 2445

Adjusted income before income taxes 31211 41068 41444 48074 31585

Adjusted provision for income taxest 10643 13717 14049 16012 10117

Adjusted net income 20568 27351 27395 32062 21468

Adjusted earnings per share

Diluted 1.07 .6 1.37 1.41 1.72 1.30

Adjusted diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 19301 19902 19448 18635 16560

The Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASBi Si aternent of Financial Accounting Standards No 12311 Share-Based

Payment lAS 123Rj on April 2006 We recognized stock-based compensation expense in the statements of income line items for stock options

and restricted stock units issued under our stock incentive plans and for shares issued under our employee stock purchase plans according to FAS

123R for the years ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 See table above for stock-bnsed compensation expense included in statements ojincoine

line items

We recognized app roximately $1.3 million $0.3 million $0.4 million $0.5 million an ii $0.1 million in compensation expense reflecting additional

Federal Insurance Corporation Act taxes as result of the taxable income that our employees recognized upon the exercise of common stock options

in the fiscal years ended March 31 2005 2006 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively that are not included in the stock-based compensation amounts

separately disclosed above We Isave recorded such expenses in the same expense line items as other compensation paid to the relevant categories of

employees as follows Cost of services $0.6 million $0.1 million $0.1 million 80.2 million and $0 Member relations and marketing $11.2 snillion

$0.1 million $0.1 million $0.1 million and $0 and General arid isdministrative $0.5 million $0.1 million 81.2 million $0.2 million and .80.1

million iss the fiscal years ended March 31 2005 2006 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

3j The provision for income taxes in the jiscal year ended March 31 2006 includes the effect ofa non-recurring non-cash income tax dma rge to earnings

01.66.7 million to recognize the decrease in tax rates used to value our deferred tmsx assets associated with our certification as QHTC in Washington
D.C

4j The percentage of member institutions at the beginning ofa fiscal year that lsold one or more oiemberships in any of our programs at the beginning of

the next fiscal year adjusted to reflect mergers acquisitions or different affiliations of rnesnbers that result in chaisges of control over individual

institutions

The uggrcgate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect at given point in time without regard to the initial term or remaining

duration of any suds agreement
Total contract value divided by the number of mesnbers

7j Adjusted results forf iscal years 2005 and 2006 include the share-based compensation expense that would have been recognized under fair value based

methods prior to the adoption of SIMS No 123R and include incosne taxes at our effective tax rates as discussed in note helovr

if Our reported effective tax rates jor each of rheJive years in the period ended fiscal sear 2009 were 41.5% 479% 33.9% 33.3% and 32.0% respectively

In February 2006 we received not ffication frosn
the Office of Tax and Revenue of the District of Coiu that we had been certified effective January

2004 as Qualfied High Technology Company QHTCj under the New F-Coszoosv Thmnsformation Act oj2000 as ismended This certification

has the
6tfect of reducing our slat utory income tax rate as well as providing other tax Isenef its The adjusted provision jor income taxes utilizes

effective tax rates of 34.1% 33.4% 33.9% 33.3% and 32.0% in each of the fiscal years 2005 2006 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively assuming we

were QHTC in each period presented and excluding one-time noncash charge in
Jiscal year 2006 to our deferred tax asset arising front our

HTC status

9j Adjusted diluted weighted average common shares outstanding for each period present ed is determined in accordance with the treasury niet hail using

time adjusted effective
tax rates

resulting from our status as QBTC discussed hove This adiustsnent reduced weighted average diluted share count

by 140000 in fiscal year 2005



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Ado/sore Board Company and Subsidiaries

OVERVIEW

We provide best practices research analysis executive education and leadership development business intelligence tools and

installation support through discrete membership programs to approximately 2800 organizations including hospitals health

systems pharmaceutical and hiotech companies health care insurers medical device companies and universities and other education

institutions Our program offerings focus on business strategy operations and general management issues Best practices research

identifies analyzes and describes specific management initiatives strategies and processes that produce the best results in solving

common problems or challenges Members of each program typically are charged fixed annual fee and have access to an integrated

set of services that may include best practices research studies and insplementation tools executive education seminars customized

research briefs webhased access to the programs content database and business intelligence tools

Our membership business model allows us to focus on broad set of issues relevant to our member organizations while promoting

frequent use of our programs and services by our members Our growth has been driven by strong renewal rates ongoing addition of

new memberships in our existing programs continued annual price increases and continued new program launches Our member

institution renewal rate in each of the past three years was 88% 90% and 89% for fiscal years ended March 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively We believe high renewal rates are retlection of our members recognition of the value they derive from participating in

our programs Our revenue grew 5.2% in fiscal 2009 over fiscai 2108 and grew i5.3% in fiscal 2008 over fiscal 2007 Our contract value

remained constant at March 31 2009 when compared to lviarch 31 2008 and increased by 15.3% at March 31 2008 over March 31

2007 We define contract value as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect at given point in time

without regard to the initial term or remaining duration of any such agreement

Memberships in 33 of our programs are renewable at the end of their membership contract term Our other eight best practices

programs provide installation support These installation support program memberships help participants accelerate the adoption of

best practices profiled in our research studies and are therefore not individually renewable As of March 31 2009 approximately 90%

of our contract value was renewable

Our operating costs and expenses consist of cost of services member relations and marketing general and administrative expenses

and depreciation and amortization expenses Cost of services represents the costs associated with the production and delivery of our

products and services Member relations and marketing expenses include the costs of acquiring new members and renewing existing

members General and administrativc expenses
include the costs of human resources and recruiting finance and accounting

management information systems facilities management new program development and other administrative functions Depreciation

and amortization expense includes the cost of depreciation of our property and equipment and includes amortization of costs

associated with the development of business intelligence software and tools that are offered as part of certain of our membership

programs as well as the amortization of acquired developed technology Included in our operating costs for each year presented are

stockbased compensation expenses and expenses representing additional payroll taxes for compensation expense as result of the

taxable inconse employees recognized upon the exercise of common stock options and the ve/ of restricted stock units

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table shows statements of income data expressed as percentage of revenue for the periods indicated and second table

shuws the stockhased compensation expense included in the statements of income data expressed as percentage of revenue for the

periods indicated



FISCAL YEARS ENDED MARCH 31 2007 2008 AND 2009

Yea Ended March 31

2007 200$ 2009

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Overview

Net Income increased 17.0% from S27.4 million in fiscal 2007 to $32.1 million in fiscal 2008 and decreased 33.0% to $21.5 million in

fiscal 2009 The increase in net income during fiscal 2008 was primarily due to profitable growth as revenue for the period increased

more than 15% compared to expense increases of 14% allowing us to leverage our existing costs over our expanding membership base

and to invest in new program launches The decrease in net income during fiscal 2009 was primarily due to lower revenue growth of

5% compared to expense growth of 14% due to increases in costs to serve members costs associated wiih the launch of new programs

and an increase in the number of new sales teams We successfully introduced three five and four new membership programs in

fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Revenue

Total revenue increased 15.3% from $189.8 million in fiscal 2007 to $219.0 million in fiscal 2008 and increased 5.2% to $230.4 million

in fiscal 2009 Our contract value increased 15.3% from $200.1 million for the fiscal year ended March 31 2007 to $230.8 million for

the fiscal year ended March 31 2008 and remained constant at 5230.8 for the fiscal year ended March 31 2009

he increases in revenue and contract value over each of the fiscal years were primarily due to crossselIing existing programs to

existing members the introduction and expansion of new programs price increase and to lesser degree the addition of new

member organizations During fiscal 2009 we experienced lower sales conversion rates when compared to prior years due to the

economic downturn which contributed to our lower growth rates for revenue and contract value

We offered 32 membership programs as of March 31 2007 37 as of March 31 2008 and 41 as of March 31 2009 Our membership

base consisted of 2662 member institutions as of March 31 2007 2761 member institutions as of March 31 2008 and 2817 member

institutions as of March 31 2009 Our average contract value per
member was $75167 for fiscal 2007 compared to $83595 for fiscal

2008 and $81920 for fiscal 2009

Revenue

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 47.5 46.7 50.6

Member relations and marketing
21.2 21.0 22.7

General and administrative t2.0 11.5 11.6

Depreciation and amortization 1.1 1.6 2.5

Total costs and expenses 81.8 80.9 87.4

income from operations 18.2 191 12.6

Other income net 3.6 2.8 1.1

Income before provision for income taxes 21.8 22.0 13.7

Provision for income taxes 7.4 7.3 4.4

Net income 14.4% 14.6% 9.3%

Year Ended March $1

2007 2008 2009

Stock-based compensation expense included in

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 2.2% 2.1% 1.9%

Member relations and marketing 1.5 1.2 1.1

General and administrative 2.7 2.5 2.5

Depreciation
0.0 0.0 0.0

total costs and expenses
6.3 5.7 5.5

Net income 4.2% 3.8% 3.7%



Cost of services

Cost of services increased 13.5o from $90.1 million in fiscal 2007 to $102.3 million in fiscal 2008 and increased 14.0o to $116.6

million in fiscal 2009 The total dollar increases in cost of services over each of the fiscal years were primarily due to increased

personnel travel meetings and deliverable costs from the introduction and expansion of new programs and costs associated with the

delivery of
program content and tools to our eapanded membership base including increased staffing and other costs In addition

in fiscal
year 2009 we incurred additional costs from the integration of Crimson Software Inc Crimson into our operations

as well as increased contractor costs and licensing tees related to certain of our programs that include business intelligence tools

Stock-based compensation expense
included in cost of sen ices was S4.2 million in fiscal 2007 54.6 million in fiscal 2008 and $4.3

million in fiscal 2009

As percentage ot revenue cost of services was 47.300 for fiscal 2007 46.7o for fiscal 2008 and 5O.6o for fiscal 2009 Cost of services

decreased as percentage of resenue for fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 primarily dae to shift in timing of new product

staffing costs between the first quarter of fiscal 2008 and the foui th quarter of fiscal 2007 resulting from the earlier launch of new

programs 1he increase in cost of services as percentage of revenue for fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 was due to the factors

listed in the paragraph above as well as the impact of slower revenue growth on our fixed cost structure STe expect cost of sees ices as

percentage of iesenue to fluctuate from period to period depending on the number of members in our largely fixed cost programs

investments in new programs and sen ices and the number of ness programs launched as up-front costs are expensed when incurred

compaed to revenue which is spread over the menibership period Stock-based compensation expense included in cost of sees ices was

2.20o of revenue 2.100 of revenue and 9o of revenue for fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 respectiveh

Member relations and marketing

Member relations and marketing expense increased 14.ls from S40.2 million in fiscal 2007 to $45.9 million in fiscal 2008 and

increased l4.0o to $52.3 million in fiscal 2009 The total dollar increases in membei ielations and marketing expense over each of the

fiscal years were due to an increase in sales staff and related trasel and other associated costs as we had 95 109 and Ill new business

development teams as of March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respeclisely as well as an increase in member relations personnel and related

costs required to serve the expanding membership base As percentage of revenue member relations and marketing expense in fiscal

2007 2008 and 2009 was 2l.2o 21.0% and 22 7o respectively The increase in member ielations and marketing as percentage of

revenue fiscal 2009 was due to the factors listed above as wel as Lhe impact of slower revenue growth Stock-based compensation

expense included in member relations and marketing was $2.8 irillion or 1.5e of revenue $2.6 million or 1.2o of revenue and $2.4

million or of revenue for fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 respec ivel7

General and administrative

General and administrative expense mci eased from $22.8 million in fiscal 2007 to $25.3 million in fiscal 2008 and to 326.7 million in

fiscal 2009 As percentage of revenLie general and administrative expense in fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 was 12.0o 11 50 and

1.6o respectively Stockbased compensation expense included in general and administratise expense was S5.1 million or 2.o of

revenue 55.4 million oi 2.5o of revenue and $5.7 million or 30 of revenue for fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 respectisely- In addition

to stock based compensation expense dir increases in general and administratise expense for each of the fiscal
years were primarily

due to increased staffing in our recruiting benefits and miming departments required to support our oerall headcoues growth

General and administrative expenses increased at lower rate than resenue between fiscal 2007 and 2008 as we were able to les ci age

these expenses os er larger res cnue base General and adminisirative expense increased at the same rate as revenue between fiscal

2008 and fiscal 2009

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation expense increased from $2.1 million or 1100 of revenue in fiscal 2007 to S3.6 million or 6o of revenue in fiscal 2008

and increased to $5.6 million or 50f of revenue in fiscal 2009 lhe increases for each of the fiscal years were primal ily
due to

increased amortizaton expense from developed capitalized internal-use softssare tools including acquired developed technology

associated with the acquisition ol Crimson and depreciation expense related to the expansion of additional floors in our headquarters

facility under the terms of our lease agreement

Other income net

Other income net consisted solely of interest income for fiscal 2007 and 2008 and consisted of interest income and loss on foreign

exchange rates in fiscal 2009 Other income net decreased from $6.8 million in fiscal 2007 to $6 million in fiscal 2008 and to 53.3

million in fiscal 2009 Other inconse net decreased during each of the fiscal years due to increased utilization of our share repurchase

program and lower interest rates and in fiscal 2009 the acquisition of Crimson which resulted in lower cash cash equivalents

and marketable securities balances Iuring fiscal 2009 we recognized foreign exchange loss of $1.1 million due to effect ot the

strengthening dollar on our receis able balances from international members at Maich 31 2009 Ihe effect of the niosenient in

foreign exchange rates on our income statement was immaterial during fiscal years 2007 and 2008



Provision for income taxes

Our provision for income taxes was $14.0 million $16.0 million and $10.1 million in fiscal
years 2007 2008 and 2009 respectixely

Our effective tax rate in fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 was 33.9% 33.3o and 32.0e respectively Our effective tax rate decreased in fiscal

2008 due to reduction in non-deductible stock based compensation expense
related to incentive stock option exercises and other

permanent differences and decreased in fiscal 2009 due to the positive effect on our effective tax rate of certain Washington D.C

income tax credits for which or qualify under the New E-Conomy Traiformation Act of 2000 the At as our nct income

has decreased

Stock-based compensation expense

We recognized the following FAS 123R stock-based compensation expense in the consolidated statements of income line items for

stock options and RSUs issued under our stock incentive plans and for shares issued under our employee stock purchase plan for the

years ending March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 in thousands except per share amounts

Yeai Ended March 31

2007 2108 2009

Stock-based compensation expense included in

Costs and expenses

Cost 01 services 416 4558 4273

Member relations and marketing 2753 2599 2436

General and adminisiiativc 3080 5406 5738

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses 12000 12563 12447

Income from operations 12000 12563 12447

Net income 7933 8380 8464

Impact on dilated earnings per share 0.41 0.45 0.51

here are no stock based compensation costs capitalized as part of the cost of an asset

Stock based compensation expense by award type is below in thousands

war GM March 31

2007 2008 2009

Stock-based compensation by award type

Stock options 10153 8933 7209

Restricted stock units 768 3352 5179

Employee stock puichase rights
78 59

Total stock-based compensation 12000 12563 12447

As of March 31 2009 $17.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock based compensation is expected to be

recognized oser weighted average period of years

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash flows generated from operating actis ities are our primary source of liquidity and we believe that existing cash cash equivalents

and marketable securities balances and operating cash flows will be sufficient to support operating and capital expenditures as well as

share repurchases and potential acquisitions during the next 12 months We had cash cash equivalents and marketable securities

balances of $130.1 million and $93.8 million at March 31 2008 and 2009 respectively We repurchased $86.5 million and $61.5 million

shares of our common stock through our share repurchase program during the years ended March 31 2008 and 2009 respectively

\Ve haxe no long-term indebtedness

Cash flows from operating activities

The combination of revenue growth profitable operations and payment for memberships in advance of accrual revenue typically

results in operating activities generating net positive cash flows on an annual basis Net cash flows provided by operating activities

were $50.2 million in fiscal 2007 $60.3 million in fiscal 2008 and S39.7 million in fiscal 2009 The increase in net cash flows provided

by operating activities in Fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the increase in net income during the same period The decrease in net cash

flows provided by operating activities in fiscal 2009 was primarily due to the decrease in net income during the sanse period

Cash flows from investing activities

The Companys cash management and investment strategy and capital expenditure programs affect investing cash flosss Net cash

flows used in investing activities were $9.1 million in fiscal 2007 Net cash flows pros ided by ins esting activities were $7.7 million and

$27.4 nsillion in fiscal 2008 and 2009 respectively



In iscal 2007 investing actis tiles used $9.1 million of cash primarily from $10.2 mililo of cpita1 expenditures hicti included

62.2 million in purchases of property and equipment related primarily tO the scheduled expansion of our headquarters facilits aiid

S6.3 million of capilalized development costs related to our neiser research progianis that icciude webbascd business intelligence

.ools Ins cstiii irtis itics als included our fin payment made for the acquisi ion of OptiEnk of 60.9 million hew activities ssei

partialit offset by s2 milllo in net ceeds on the redenap ion of namet able securities

In fiscal 2008 ins esting actis ities ovided s7.i million cash primarils from the net proceeds on the redemption of marketable

iccuritim of SF72 nuuion sshich was primarily used to fund our share repurchase program his amount was partially offset by

capital expe Iditures of 596 million sich included SI .9 million in pu -chases of property and equipment related piimai ly
the

schedulad expansion of cur hcadquai ers lacility
and $5.9 millo of capitalized softssaie development costs related to our riesser

esearch programs that include ss eb-based business intelligence tools

In fiscal 2900 invesing activities provided 827 million in cast primarils mis the nO pr iceeds on the redemption macactable

wcu ties of 661.0 million ssthich was primarily sed to fund our share repurchase program and ir acquisition of Ci imson for ys8.6

million This amount ssas partially offset by capital expendituras of $13.0 million which included 53.8 million ii pu chases

of property and equiPment related pr mar is to the schcd ccl cvpansio of our hear rar term Ia Olit and 59.1 millinn of capitalized

tssa ie development msds rclsted to or oetser research progro.m thai ncludo cc based business intelligence tools

Cash flows from financing activities

We used net cash flrws in financiug actis tiles of 84 million 53.3 pillion id 661 rt cn in ftscal 2007 2008 and 2009

rcspectisc In fiscai 20117 2008 and 209 we icceived apo nximnaiels 69.9 million 8176 million on milion respectively from

the exercise of stock options Also in fiscal 2007 2108 and 2009 ssc received appro imately 50.1 million S0.4 ssillion and $0.3

million respcciis -ly in proceeds fom the issuance of cc nmon stock under ou employee stock purchase plan We repurchased

274710 1136091 and 2031223 sha as of our common stca at tat cost ol approximately 566.9 million 886.3 million am

061 million in fiscal 210 2008 and 2009 resoectively pursuam to out share repurchase program Also in fiscal years 2008

and 2009 sIc had $0.8 million and 80.3 million in sha es respectis ely si ithhcld to
satisfy

mini num employee lox withholding for

vested re Ii ic cd stock units

Contractual obligations

Tsovemhc 2006 cnkred trio 821 millio revolving cred facility witl commercial hank iliar can hr used for working capital

share reD irchases other general corporate purposes Borrnssnigs on the credit facility if any ysill be collsteralized by certain of our

inaiketabk secuiitiesand will bear inimest at an amount based on the published IBOR rate We aie also recluired to maintain an

interest coverage rat for each of our tscal years cfnst less than three to one credit
facility

rencyss automalicall each year until

Tot ao can he increased at our reques by up to an additional $10 million per yet to $30 saillun the aggregite have

bee so borrois tugs under the ci edit facility

the follosving summarizes on contract ual obligations at Slarcls 31 2009 and the effect such obligations are expected to hise on our

liqu dity and cash Ituws in uture periods The5e obigaticns relate primarily to our headquarici and other offices leases which are

more fulli de5etihed in cte 13 tia consolidated finr ncsal statcnwnzn rod pasniunts related our aequtsi000 ut imsun ohich

ale ii ore fully described in 4ote to the consolidated financial statements
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

At March 31 2009 se had no off balanc sheet financing or nt-icr arrangments 0th unconsolidated entities or financial
partner

slips such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities established for
purposes of facilitating off

balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually narross oCimited purposes

Share repurchase

January 200 the Companys Board of Iirectors authorized the repurchase of cm io $50 sillion of the Company coi stun stock

which au horization smas increased in rmount to $100 million in October 2004 $130 mill on in February 2006 to 5200 million in

lanuary 2107 to 8250 million us
July 2007 and to $330 million its April 2008 .211 rcpurchmscs in date has been made in the

open

market Ts minimum nunmbei of shares has been fixed and the slsare repurchase autho ration has no expiration date lie Co moans

intends to fund time share repurchtises vs lila cash on hand and vs ith cash
gerci

atacl Loss operatiors .At March 31 2009 the mcliii ining

author red repurchasr amount was 00 million



Exercise of stock options and purchases under our employee stock purchase plan

Options granted to participants under our stocUbased incentive compensation plans that ucrc exercised to acquire shares in fiscal

2007 2008 and 2009 generated cash of approximately 59.9 million 9176 million nd $0.4 million respectis from pay ment of

option exercise prices In addition in fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 we generated cash of approximately $0.4 million SO million and

50.3 million respecthely in discounted stock purchases om participants under oui employee stock purchase plan

\\ recognized approximately SO million 50.3 million and SO.1 million in compensation expense reflecting additional ederal

insurance Corporation Act taxes as result of the taxable income that employees recognized upon the exercise of nonqualified

common stock options and restricted stock units in fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively also incui red additional compen

sation deductions for tax repoiting purposes but not for financial reporting purposes that increased the deferred tax asset to

reflect alloss able tax deductions these tax deductions will be re ilized in the determination of our income tax liability
and thereOre

reduce our future income tax payments In connection with these transactions our defciied tax asset increased by approximately

S6.9 million S5.9 million and 80 million in fiscal 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively Although the ros ision for inc me taxes foi

financial reporting pi rposes did not change our actual cash pazrnents will be reduced as the deferred ax asset is utilized

SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We haze identified the foliowing ohcies as ci lOcal to our business operations and the understanding ofour esults of operations this

listing is not comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies In many cases the iccounting treatment of particela transaction

is specifically dictated b1 accounting principles genesally accepted in the United States ss ith no need for management judgment in

their application There are also areas in which managements judgment in selecti ig any azailable alternative would not produce

materially different resub Certain of our accounting policies aie particularly important to the presentation of our financial condition

and results of opelations and may require the application of significant judgment by our management In applying those policies our

management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used in the detet nination of certain estimates Those

estimates are based on our historical experience our obsers ance of trends in the industry information pros ided by our members and

informatio available from other outside sources as appropriate For more detailed discussion on the application oUhese and other

accounting policies see Note to nor consolidated financial statements Our critical accounting policies are

Revenue recognition

In accoidance sith Staff Accounting Bulletin Bo 104 Revenue tlecoynition CSAB 101 resenue is recognized when there is

persuasise evidence of an arrangement the fe is fixed or determinable services have been rendered and payment his been

contractuallY cained and collectahilitv is reasonabh assured Fees are generally billable sshen lettei of ag cement is signed by

the member and fees reeds able during the subsequent twelve month perod and related deferred revenue recorded upon the

commencenient of the agi cement or collection of fees if ca her Ce lain fes arc hilled on an install nent basis lenbers whose

membership agreenlents arc subject to the sers ice guarantee may requcst refund of their fees xihlch is pros
ided on pro rata basis

relative to the length of the seizice period

Revenue from renewable memberships and best practices installation support memberships is recognized ratably over thc te of the

related subscription agreer sent Certain membership programs incorporate robust hosted business intelligence tools In many of these

agreements members are charged set up fees in addition to subscription fees for access to the hosted web based business intelligence

tools and related membership sers ices Both set up fees and subscription fees aie recognized ratably over thm term the members up

agreement which is generally one to three years Upon launch of new program that incorporates robust business intelligence tool

all program reveneie is deferred until the tool is generally available for release to our niembership and then recognized ratably over

the remainder of the ontract term of each agreement One of our programs includes delis cred software tools together si ith ini In

mentation sen ices technical support and related me nbership rvices Rezenue for these arrangements is recorded pursuant to

the American Institute Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 972 Sojtwam Revs nue Recognition as amended

We separate the fair alue of the technical support and related membership services fiom the total value of the contract based on

vendor specific objective esidence of fair value Ihe fees related mu the software license and implementation sersices aie bundled and

iecognized in conformity zOth SOP 814 AccountingforPeijoriiianre of Construct ion1spe and Certain Production Ipe Contracts as

sers ices are performed using project hours as the basis to measure progress
towards completion lees associated with the technical

support
and related membership services aie recorded as revenue ratably oser the teim of the agreement beginning when all other

elcments haze been delivered

Allowance for uncollectible revenue

lhe Companys ability to collect outstanding receis ables from its members has an effect on the Companys operating performance and

cash flows The Compans records an allossance for uncollectible revenue as reduction of revenue based on its ongoing monitoring

of members credit and the aging of receivables to determine the allossance for uncollectible resenue the Company examines its

collections history the
age

of accounts receizable in question any specific member collection issues that have been identified general

market conditions and current econonve trends



Capitalized internal software development costs

Hosted software internal use

In certain membership programs the Company pros ides business intelligence software tools under hosting arrangement where

the software application resides on toe Companys or its service providers hardware The customers do not take delivery of the

software and only receive access to the business intelligence tools during the term of their membership agreement In accordance ssith

ETTF 000 Applicaoon of AICPA Statement of Position 972 to Arrangements That Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another

Entitys Hardware FITF 000 the development costs of this software are accounted for in accordance with SOP 98 Accounting

Jbr the Costs of Computer Software Dc eloped or Obtained for Internal Use Computer software deselopment costs that arc incurred

in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred During the development stage direct consulting costs and payroll and

pay roll-related costs for cmploiees that are directly associated stith each project are capitalized and amortized oser the estimated

useful life of the software once placed into operation

Delivered software

One of our membership programs includes delivered software tools The associated capitalized software asset is accounted for in

accordance with FAS No 86 Accoundng for the Costs of Cornpiter Software to be Sold Leased or Otherwise Marketed We capitalize

consulting costs and payroll and payroll related costs for employees directly related building sohwarc product once techrological

feasibility is established We determine technological feasibility is established by the completion of detail program design or in its

absence completion of woiking model Once the softss are pioduct is ready for general availability we cease capitalizing costs and

begin amortizing the intangible asset on straight-line basis over its estimated useful life

Goodwill and other intangible assets

The Companys goodsvill and other intangible assets have been accounted foi under the pros isiuns of Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets FAS 142 Accordingly upon completion of an acquisition the purchase

price is allocated to the intangibles ishich are separately identifiable from goodwill based on the assets fair value Phe excess cost of

the acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill FAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible

assets deemed to have indefinite Ifs cc not be amortized but rather he tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if

events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment finite lised intangible assets are amortized over their est mated

useful lives

Recovery of long-lived assets excluding goodwill

the Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 144 Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets FAS 144 which requires that long-lived assets be reviessed for

impairment whenecer events or circumstances indicate that the cairying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable The test for

recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted ex2ected future cash flows and if sequired the impairment loss if any

is measured as the nount that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the assets fairs alue if the asset is not recoverable he Company
considers expected cash flows and estimated future operating results trends and other available information in assessing whether the

carrying value of assets is impaired

Deferred incentive compensation and other charges

Direct incentice compensation to our employees related to tne negotiation of ness and renescal memberships license fees to third-party

sendors for tools data and software incorporated in specific memberships that include business intelligence tools and other direct

and incremental costs associated with specific memberships are deferred and amortized over the term of the related memberships

Deferred tax asset recoverability

We have deferied income taxes consisting primarily of timing differences and federal and state income tax credits In estimating

future tax consequences Statement of 1-inancial Accounting Standards No 109 Accounting for Income 7axes FAS 109 generally

considers all expected future events in the determination and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities We believe that our

future taxable income will be sufficient for the full realization of the deferred income taxes FAS 109 does not consider the effect of

future changes in existing tax laws or rates in the determination and evaluation of deterred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax

laws or rates are enacted We have established our deferred income tax assets and liabilities
using currently enacted tax laws and rates

including the estimated effects of the Ql-llC status on our Washington DC deferred tax assets Ste will recognize an adjustment to

income for the impact of new tax laws or rates on the existing deferred tax assets and liabilities if any schen and if new tax laws or

rates are enacted

We adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income laxesAn Interpretation of EASB

Statement 109 FIN 48 on April 2007 lhc impact of adoption svas not material FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty

in income taxes recognized in an enterprises financial statements in accordance with lAS 109 FIN 48 prescribes that
company

should use more likely-than not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the tax position taken iax positions that

meet the mm
c-likely-than-not recognition threshold should he measured as the largest amount of the tax benefits determined on



cumulative probability basis which is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement in the financial statements

We recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters as component of the provision for income taxes We do not

currently anticipate that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase within the next 12 months

Stock-based compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with FAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method Under

the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123R stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date of the stock-based

awards based on their fair values and is recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of income over the vesting periods of

the awards In accordance with the modified prospective transition method compensation cost recognized by us beginning April

2006 included compensation cost for all stock-based payments granted on or after April 2006 based on the grant date fair value

estimated in accordance with the provisions of FAS 123R and compensation cost for all stock-based payments granted prior to

but that were unvested as of April 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation FAS 123 adjusted for estimated

forfeitures Results for prior periods have not been restated

Under the provisions of FAS 123R the Company calculates the grant date estimated fair value of stock options using Black-Scholes

valuation model Determining the estimated fair value of stock-based awards is subjective in nature and involves the usc of significant

estimates and assumptions including the term of the stock-based awards risk-free interest rates over thc vesting period expected

dividend rates the price volatility of the Companys shares and forfeiture rates of the awards FAS 123R requires forfeitures to be

estimated at the time of grant and adjusted if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates The

forfeiture rate is based on historical experience The Company bases its fair value estimates on assumptions it believes to be reasonable

hut that are inherently uncertain The fair value of RSUs is determined as the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date

of grant

In accordance with FAS 123R we also report the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense as

financing cash inflow in the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note to the consolidated financial statements for full description of recent accounting pronouncements including the expected

dates of adoption

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest rate risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash cash equivalents and marketable securities which is

designed for safety of principal and liquidity Cash and cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid U.S Treasury obligations

with maturities of less than three months As of Ivlarch 31 2009 our marketable securities consisted of $3.6 million in tax-exempt

notes and bonds issued by the District of Columbia $36.3 million in tax-exempt notes and bonds issued by various states and S30.2

million in U.S government agency securities The weighted average maturity on all our marketable securities as of March 31 2009 was

approximately 4.1 years We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash cash equivalents and mar
ketable securities Our portfolio is subject to inherent interest rate risk as investments mature and are reinvested at current market

interest rates We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust our portfolio risk or income profile Due to the nature

of our investments we have not prepared quantitative disclosure for interest rate sensitivity in accordance with Item 305 of Regulation

S-K as we believe the effect of interest rate fluctuations would not be material

With respect to recent global economic events there is an unprecedented uncertainty in the financial markets which could bring

potential liquidity risks to the Company Such risks could include additional declines in our stock value less availability and higher

costs of additional credit potential counterparty defaults and further commercial bank failures The Company does not believe that

the value or liquidity of its cash cash equivalents and marketable securities as described above have been significantly impacted by

the recent credit crisis In addition the credit worthiness of our members is constantly monitored by the Company and we believe that

our current group
of members are sound and represent no abnormal business risk

Foreign currency
risk

Although it represents less than 3% of our revenue our international operations subject us to risks related to currency exchange

fluctuations Prices for our services sold to members located outside the United States are sometimes denominated in local currencies

As consequence increases in the U.S dollar against local currencies in countries where we have members would result in foreign

exchange loss recognized by the Company In 2008 and 2009 we recorded foreign currency exchange losses of zero and S1.l million

respectively which is included in Other income net in the consolidated statements of income



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF THE ADVISORY BOARD COMPANY AND

SUBSIDIARIES

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Advisor Board Company and subsidiaries as of March 31

2008 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of income changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three

years
in the period ended March 31 2009 Our audits also included the financial statement schedule of the Company for the

years
ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2019 as listed in the Index at Item 15a2 These financial statements and schedule are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule

based u.n our aud.its

We conducted our audits iu accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Uinted States Those

standards require that we plen and periorm the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management asieeli as

evxiuating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion
the financial statemenw referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position

of The Advisory Board Company arid subsidiaries at March 31 2008 and 2009 and the consolidated results of their operations and

their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March31 2009 in conformity with US generally accepted accounting

principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements

taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the inldrmation set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States The

Advisory Board Companys internal control over financial reporting as of March 31 2009 based on criteria established in Izieriol

Controliiitegru fed Fromework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report

dated june 12 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

IOu7UP
Baltimore Maryland

u.ne 12 2009



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
lIe Advzsoy Jursid Company and Subsidiaries

In thousands except share arnounto 2008 2009

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17907 23746

Marketable securities 8085 8385

Membership fees receivable net 81538 116739

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3860 5113

Deferred income taxes net 12730 3083

Thtal current assets 124120 157066

Property and equipment net 22897 34156

Intangible assets net 1248 4463

Goodwill 5426 24563

Deferred incentive compensation and other charges 22208 26737

Deferred income taxes net of current portion 5142 7555

Marketable securities 124073 61718

Total assets 305114 316258

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Deferred revenue 134465 150609

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 26994 35777

Accrued incentive compensatiois 10032 7320

Total current liabilities 171491 193706

Longterns deferred revenue 9682 19869

Other iongterm liabilities 1412 3784

Total liabilities 182585 217359

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 5000000 shares authorized zero shares issued and outstanding

Common stock par value 80.11 90000000 shares authorized 21527933 and 21744456 shares issued

as of March 31 2008 and 2009 respectively and 17393626 and 15558894 shares outstanding as of

March 31 2008 and 2009 respectively 215 217

Additional paid4n capital 217170 233794

Retained earnings 113024 134492

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income 1540 1307

Treasury stock at cost 4134307 and 6185562 shares at March 31 2008 and 2009 respectively 20942t 270911

total stockholders equity 122529 98899

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 305114 316258

yisrch 31

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
The Adsasory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Year Ended March 31

In thousands except per share amounts 2007 2008 2009

Revenue $189843 $218971 $230360

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 90129 102291 116556

Member relations and marketing 40204 45890 52292

General and administrative 22815 25269 26725

Depreciation and amortization 2070 3589 5647

Income from operations 34625 41932 29140

Other income net 6819 6142 2445

income before provision for income taxes 41444 48074 31585

Provision for income taxes 14049 16012 10117

Net income 27395 32062 21468

Earnings per share

Net income per
sharebasic 146 178 1.31

Net income per sharediluted 141 1.72 1.30

Weighted average
number of shares outstanding

Basic 18714 17999 16441

Diluted 19448 18635 16560

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
TOo Advisory Board Cornpauy sod Subsidiaries

Accumulated

Additional Elements of Other

___________________ Paid-in Retained Comprehensive

Capital Earnings Income Loss

Common Shares

Treasury

Stock

Annual

Comprehensive

IncomeIn thousands except share amounts Stock Amount Total

Balance at March 31 2006 18932262 203 152081 53567 52618 56068 147165 924297

Proceeds from exercise of stock
options 560071 9920 9925

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 6937 6937

Proceeds from issuance ot common stock under

employee stock purchase plan 10163 442 442

Stock-based compensation expense 12001 12000

Purchases of
treasury

stock 1274770 66862 66862

Change in net unrealized
gains losses on

available-for-sale marketable securities

net of income taxes of $787 1462 1462 1462

Net income 27395 27395 27395

BalanceatMarch3l2007 18227726 208 181380 80962 1156 122930 138464 28857

Proceeds from exercise of stock
options 650991 17637 17644

Vesting
of restricted stock units net of shares

withheld to
satisfy

minimum employee tax

withholding 42018 797 797

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 5940 5940

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan 8986 447 447

Stock-based compensation expense 12563 12563

Purchases of
treasury

stock 1536095 86490 86490

Change in net unrealized
gains losses on

available-for-sale marketable securities

net of income taxes of $1452 2696 2696 2696

Net income 32062 32062 32062

Balance at March 31 2008 17393626 215 2i7170 113024 1540 209420 122529 34758

Acquisition
of Crimson Software Inc 102984 4724 4725

Proceeds from exercise of stock
options 18625 420 420

Vesting of restricted stock units net of shares

withheld to satisfy minimuna employee

tax withholding 80070 825 824

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 479 479

Proceeds from issuance of conamon stock under

employee stock purchase plan 14844 337 337

Stock-based compensation expense 12447 12447

Purchases of treason stock 2051255 61491 61491

Change in net unrealized
gains losses on

available-for-sale marketable securities

net of income taxes of $125 233 233 233

Net income 21468 21468 21468

BalanceatMarch3l2009 15558894 217 $233794 $134492 $1307 $270911 98899 $21235

The accompanying nores ore an integral part of these consohidared statements



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
The Advisory Boord Cosnysiny and Sshsidia vies

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operattng activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of intangible assets

Deferred income taxes

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards

Stock-based compensation expense

Amortization of marketable securities premiums

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Membership fees receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Deferred incentive compensacion and other charges

Deferred revenues

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accrued incentive compensation

Other long-term liabilities

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for income taxes

Yisar Ended March 31

In thousands 2007 2008 2009

27395 32162 21468

2070 3589 5647

211 253 980

12938 14913 3635

6937 5940 291

12000 12563 12447

938 957 681

21849 23867 25485

50 737 1381

2402 8351 4529

17725 27153 22410

4174 8273 4449

2264 576 2712
751 25 2372

Net cash provided by operating activities 50217 60317 39691

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 9816 9065 14017

Capitalized external rise software development costs 431 491 996

Cash paid liar acquisition net of cash acquired 895 18592

Redemptions of marketable securities 21000 91805 88054

Purchases of marketable securities 18000 74598 27033

Net cash used in/provided by investing activities 9142 7651 27416

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options 9925 17644 420

Withholding of shares to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for vested restricted

stock units 797 825

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 442 447 337

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 6937 5940 291

Purchases of treasury stock 66862 86490 61491

Net cash used in financing activities 49558 63256 61268

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 8483 4712 5839

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 21678 13195 17907

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 13195 17907 23746

762 1480 5211

The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated statements



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Advsory Board Company nod Sutsidiarico

NOTE BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

The Advisory Board Company and its subsidiaries the Company provide best practices research analysis executive education and

leadership development business intelligence tools and installation support to hospitals health systems pharmaceutical and biotech

companies health care insurers medical device companies and universities and other education institutions through discrete

programs The Companys program offerings focus on business strategy operations and general management issues Best practices

research identifies analyzes and describes specific management initiatives strategies processes that produce mIsc best results in

solving common problems or challenges For fixed fee members of each program have access to an integrated set of services that

may include best practices research studies and implementation tools executive education seminars customized research briefs

web-based access to the programs content database and business intelligence tools

NOTE BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries All significant

intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash equivalents and marketable securities

Included in cash equivalents are marketable securities that mature within three months of purchase Investments with maturities of

more than three months are classified as nsarketable securities Current marketable securities have nsaturity dates within twelve

months of the balance sheet date As of March 31 2008 and 2009 the Companys marketable securities consisted of U.S government

agency obligations and District of Columbia and other various state tax-exempt notes and bonds The Companys marketable

securities which are classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair nsarket value based on quoted market prices The net unrealized

gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable securities are excluded from net income and are included within accumulated

elements of other compreheissive income net of tax he specific identification method is used to compute the realized gains and

losses on the sale of marketable securities

Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements furniture fixtures equipment capitalized internal software develop

ment costs and acquired developed technology related to the purchase of Crimson Software Inc Crimson see Note Property

and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization In certain membership programs the Company

provides business intelligence software tools under hosting arrangement where the software application resides on the Companys or

its service providers hardware The members do not take delivery of the software and only receive access to the business intelligence

tools during the term of their membership agreement In accordance with EITF 00-3 Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2

to Arrangements That Include the Right to Use Software Stored on Another EntitvS Hardware EITF 00-3 the development costs of

this software are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position 98-I Accountingfor the Costs of Computer Software Developed

or Obtained for Internal Use Computer software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as

incurred During the development stage direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees thatsre directly

associated with each project are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software once placed into operation

Capitalized software is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life which is generally five years

Replacements and major improvements are capitalized while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred

The acquired developed technology related to the Crimson acquisition is classified as property and equipment because the developed

software application resides on the Companys or its service providers hardware Amortization for acquired developed software is

included in the depreciation and amortization line item of the Companys consolidated statements of income Acquired developed

software is amortized over its estimated useful life of nine years based on the cash flow estimate used to determine the value of the

intangible asset

Furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of ihe assets which

range from three to seven years Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the

estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term



Goodwill and other intangible assets

he Companys goodwill and other intangible assets have been acLounted for under the provisions of FAS No 142 Goodwdl and Other

Intangible Assets which requires that goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinie lives not be amortized but rather be

tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment

Finite-lived intangible assets are required to be amortized over their useful lives and are subject to impairment evaluation under the

provicions of FAS No 144 Accountingfor the impairment ofLong-LivedAssets FAS 144 The excess cost at the acquisition user the

fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill Goodwill is tested at least annually at March 31st for impairment arid other

intangible assets are tested for potential impairment sshenever events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying value of

an asset may not be fully recoverable in accordance with FAS 144

Other intangible assets consist of capitalized softssare for sale and acquired intangibles Capitalized softss are for sale is accounted for

in accordance with 1AS No 86 Accountingfor the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold Leased or Otherwise Marketed The Company

capitalizes consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly related to building software product once

technological feasibility is established he Company determines technological feasibility is established by the completion of detail

program design or in its absence completion of working model Once the software product is ready for general asailability

the Company ceases capitalizing costs and begin amortizing the intangible on straight-line basis over its estimated useful life

weighted average estimated useful life of capitalized software is nyc years Other intangible assets includes those assets that arise

from business combinations consisting of developed technology and customer relationships that are amortized on straight-line

basis oscr three to ten years

Recovery of long-lived assets excluding goodwill

lhe Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance witf the provisions of FAS 144 which reqaires that long-lived assets he

wviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable

The test for recoserability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted expected future cash flows and if required the impairment

loss is measured as the amount that the carrying value of Lhe asset exceeds the assets fair value lit ic asset is not recoverable The

Company considers expected cash flosis and estimated future operating results trends and other available information in assessing

whether the carrying value of assets is impaired

Revenue recognition

In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No 104 Revenue Recognition SAB 104 revenue is recognised when there is

persuasive evidence of an arrangement the fee is fixed or determinable scrs ices have been rendered and payment has been

contractually earned and collectability is reasonably assured Fees are generally billable sihen etter of agreement is signed by

the member and fees receivable during the subsequent twelve month period and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the

commencement of the agreement or collection of fees if earlier Certain fees are billed on an installment basis Members sshose

membership agreements ate subject to the service guarantee may request refund of their fees which is provided on pro rata basis

relative to the length of the service period

Revenue from reness able memberships and best practices installation support memberships is recognized ratably over the term of the

related subscription agreement Certain membership programs incorporate robust hosted business intelligence tools In many ot these

agreements members are charged set up fees in addition to subscription fees for access to the hosted web-based business intelligence

tools and related membership services Both setup fees and subscription fees are recognized ratably over the term of the membership

agreement which is generally one to three years Upon launch of new program that incorporates robust business intelligence tool

all program revenue is deferred until the tool is generally available for release to our membership and then recognized ratably

over the remainder of the contract term of each agreement One of our programs includes delivered software tools together with

implementation sets ices technical support and related membership services Revenue for these arrangements is recorded pursuant to

the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 97-2 Software Reven tie Recognition as amended

We separate the fair value of the technical support and related membership services from the total salue of the contract based on

vendor specific objective evidence of fair value The fees related the software license and implementation services are bundled and

recognized in conformity with SOP 81-i Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Cerain Productiori-7pc Contracts as

services are performed using project hours as the basis to measure progress towards completion Fees associated with the technical

support and related membership services are recorded as revenne ratably over the term of the agreement beginning when all other

elements have been delivered

Allowance for uncollectible revenue

The Companys ability to collect outstanding receivables from its members has an effect on the Companys operating performance and

cash flows The Company records an allowance for uncolleetibie revenue as reduction of revenue based on its ongoing monitoring

of members credit and the aging of receivables To determine the allowance for uncollectible revenue the Company examines its

collections history the
age

of accounts receivable in question any specific member collection issues that have been identified

general market conditions and current economic trends



Deferred incentive compensation and other charges

Direct incentive compensation to our employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships license fees to third-party

vendors for tools data and software incorporated in specific memberships that include business intelligence tools and other direct

and incremental costs associated with specific memberships are deferred and amortized over the term of the related memberships

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstanding during

the period Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares

increased the dilutive effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period The number of potential common shares

outstanding is determined in accordance with the treasury stock method using the Companys prevailing tax rates Certain potential

common share equivalents were not included in computation because their effect was anthdilutive reconciliation of basic to diluted

weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows in thousands

Year Ended March 31

2017 2008 2009

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 18714 17999 16441

Dilutive impact of stock options 719 584 94

Dilutive impact of restricted stock units 13 52 25

Diluted weighted average conimon shares outstanding 19448 18635 16560

The following potential common share equivalents were not included in calculating diluted net income per
share because their effect

was ants-dilutive in thousands

Year Ended March 31

2007 2008 2009

Anti-dilutive weighted average common shares 650 854 2920

Concentrations of risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and

cash equivalents marketable securities and membership fees receivable The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents and

marketable securities with financial institutions Marketable securities consist of U.S government agency obligations and District of

Columbia and other various state tax-exempt notes and bonds The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit

ratings related to the cash cash equivalents and marketable securities Any unrealized losses on marketable securities are determined

not to be other-than-temporary because the Company has the ability and intent to hold the securities to maturity and not realize losses

on thens The credit risk with respect to nsensbership fees receivable is generally diversified due to the large number of entities

comprising the Companys membership base and the Company establishes aliowances for potential credit losses No one member

accounted for more than 2% of revenue for any period presented

For each of the fiscal years ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company generated less than 3% of revenue from members

outside the United States The Companys limited international operations subject the Company to risks related to currency exchange

fluctuations Prices for our services sold to members located outside the United States are sometimes denominated in local currencies

As consequence increases in the U.S dollar against local currencies in countries where the Company has members would result

in foreign exchange loss recognized by the Company During fiscal year 2009 the Conspany incurred foreign exchange loss of

$i.l million The foreign exchange loss amount was immaterial in fiscal years 2007 and 2018

Other income net

Other income net for the years ended March 31 2007 and 2008 consists of interest income earned from the Companys marketable

securities Other income net for the year ended March 31 2009 includes $3T million of interest inconse earned frons the Companys

nsarketahle securities and $1.1 million of losses on foreign exchange rates

Income taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method Under this method temporary differences arise as

result of the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases Deferred tax assets are reduced by

valuation allowance when in the opinion of tssanagement it is more likely than not that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset

will not be realized Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax law and tax rates on the date of the

enactment of the change

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of the Companys marketable securities consisting of U.S government agency obligations and District of Columbia

and other various state tax-exempt notes and bonds are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair market value based on

quoted market prices



Segment reporting

Statement of inancia Accounti ag Staid ards No Dis loaiires about Scnients of rn teipricc cv ci Rciated Informotion require

business ci terprise based upon ma agement approach to disclose financial and descriptive information about its elating

segments Opeiakng segments ar comp snouts of an en erprUe about which separate financial information is available and rcpularls

ca alua ed re chic ope ati dccisb make of cnterpris Under his dek sit the Ccmpan ope
atcd as si agle segment for

Cl pe

Research and development costs

Gosh related to the resea ch and devel pmcnt ol ness prog airs ai expensed wh net ied Research and des elopment costs were

immaterial for he fiscal ears prescn ed

Stock-based compensation

he ompana as scs era sto k-msed cc iii sensath ii plans sahich are described vi Liii Note 12 to the consolida ed financial

statements Pb sc plans provide tis granting of stock op tu vs and res icier stock unts Ii SUs to emp ovees ie ion-cruploacc

members of our Board of Circitois he onipan accounts tar tock based compcnsatio in accordance as ith the Financial Accor nting

tandards Boar If I- \IB Sti enscnt of inanci Ueou sting Standards No 11R Shaie Base Piyment 1-AS 12aRl using the

na1ifiecl pros wet tear alCoa utbo Under hr taalcv ucag sCo pxvi nns of 231 ft sleek-based cc nsancaJoi os is

mcasLircd at the grant date of the stoci has ass a-ds based so tiel fair salues and is eeognized an expe ase in ih consolidated

statements of income omr the sting er ods of the awards In ocr ace iils the modified prospectis transit ion methoc

compelasatlois cost cogni the ompana beginniiag April 2006 included eompensati cost tor all stock based say iccnts

grant cl on afte April 2006 base oia the
gi

ant late ía ii aelue esti aaated in ac ordance as ith the prc isions of \S 123R and

compeirsat Oil cost toi all stock-based vu cots antec prim to hut that aserc isa sted of pi 2006 hued on use ant

date tair aluc a5tmaled us accordance lie oi iginal ros isio as ol PAl 23 thug for Ito k-Based Cooipcnsatiori Iju
ed

stintateet forfeitures

ader the oms isions of 1-AS l2aR th doi apana calcu tes the -ant date estinaated ía aim sto options using aek-S holes

valuation aodrl Uetermining the estimated fair aiue of st uk-i .iscd awaids is judgmental in nature and involves thc ise

signifcart estimates anu assu aaptions ac ding the na of the stock-based aus ards risk- ice in est rates mci tne aestir pc iod

expected idend rates tic puce volatility of the oiaspa us si es and for eiture rstes of lIar ass ards Prior to adopti ag IN 123R

the Company ecognile loi fcitui es only as they occurred 55 123R equires forteitures to estimated at tlae Nnie of grant and

adjusted if icc essar in subseque at periods if actual foif itures differ from th se estimates lac forfeiture rate is based aistorical

expc cncc Ihe Conspany uses its fair Cue cit mates ssun puons it belie to be reasonab hut that as inherently acertaiia

he fair salue at RIbs is detei ssined se fah niorket saN cot tise underlying slsares on tlae daU of grant

Use of estimates in preparation of consolidated financial statements

lse Cisrrpanys consolidated hinancial statensents are prepared in aecor dance itla accounting principles generally acceplecl in

tlse United States Cf IC These accounting prin iples qu cc the Cons1 an to make rtain estimates judgnscnt an

ssunptions In mans cases the acme nting treatnsent of particular transaction is specifically dictated b1 US GA \P and does sot

requi rrranagenie as judgment its application and tlscre cc also areas in which nsanageissents judgnsent in selecting among

sailable alternatives asould nd prod ice ssatci iall di ferent res ilt For caes asisere the Co upanv is required to make ccita is

estimates udgiaaents and assumptions the omf any helieaes that the estinsa eli iudgisscnts ad assomptiolas upon
aslsich it reljes are

reasonable based upon in nrnsi thin asailable to the Company at he linac that these estimates judgments and assunaptions are made

Phese estinsates judgments and assumptions eaia affect tlse reporter amounts of assets arid liabilities as oft se date of the fi sancial

statemneisis as sell as lie eported anaouists of res enuc and exe iscs durliag the pci iods preseisted To tlse extent there arc nsater al

differences hetsi den tlsese es inaates juc gmeists or ssumptions as ual cc ult tlac Cc napaisvs finaisc al stateissents will he aBbeted

The Cumpaiss estimates judgments and assc mptions msia nLlude estimates of bad debt -esei ses estiiss ates to establish msplcmyce

bonus toad coissrnissiois accruals esti Ta mtiisg
useful liv of acquired or internalla dese oped intangible assets estimating the ICr du

of goodaaill and tnlaisgthle5 usd es alcoa tug impair nent determining when tisvestmeis imparments arc othe-tla 1-tenaporary

cstiissates in stock based cnmpeissation liarfeiture rates and estin atng tlse potential outcome future tax consequences of cacnts

that hase been recognized the Compaiss finanu UI statemeists or tax returns

Recent accounting pronouncements

Recently adopted

fhe Coinpans adopted tise pros isions ol Finaiscial Iccounluag Standards Board Statensent off nan al Accouisting Standards No 157

1-air INdur 11 asurciimi iits IAS 157 fo financial assets and abilities on kp 2008 and it did isot Isaac material impact ois our

financial position or results of nperat ins FAS 157 defines fair ml ie est mblisiscs ranseasork for isieasum ing fair aloe in accordance



esith GAAI aid expands disclosures shou faii va ue measurements lAS 15 does not introduce any new fair salue measurements

but prosides 6uidance on how to mcasuie fair salue bs proxding fair salue hierarchy used to classify the source of he informaiion

The Compan will adopt LAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities on April 2009 the Company does not expect that se

impact of the ado tion of the portion of the pronouncement os er nonfinancial assets and liabilities cs ill have material eOect cii the

Company financial position or results of operations

lhe Company adopted the provisions of StaLinent of Financial Accounting Stand irds No 159 Ihe Fair aloe Option jbr inaaeial

Assets and Financial Liabilities lAS 159 on April i2008 LAS 159 gives the Company the irrevocable option to carr certain finan

cial assets and liabilities at fair salues Rh changes in fair value recognized in ealnings The Company did ii elect the fair salue

option and as result LAS 159 did not hase any impact on the Compans finaiical position or results of operations

Accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

In December 2007 thc FASB issued Statensent of Financial Accounting Standards No 141R Business Combine lions Ff5 141R

which replaces LAS No 141 LAS 141R retains the pe rchase method of accounting Itir acquisitions and requiles number of changes

including changes in the ss assets and liabilities are recognized in the puruhase accounting and changes in the recogniti in of assets

acquired and liahilitics assumed arising from conting melts LAS 14lRt also requires the capitalizatio of in process research and

development at DR value sod the cxpensing of aqiisitian rnatcd cncts as incurred FAS I4i hacamc cffecnse far tha Compsav

beginning April 2109 and will apply prospectis cl to business combinations completed on after that date The Conapany will also

simultaner usly adopt FASB Staff Position No LAS 142 Determination of the LefuI ffi of Intangible Assets FSP FS 1420 wa cli

gis e.s additional guidance related to acquired ntangih assets applied ospectivelv onl to intangible assets acquired after the

effective date The Company expects that the aoplcation of the provisions of LAS 141R and FSP \S 142 could he signif cant

the Companes financial position and results of operat is depnding an the nature of husi aess acquisttio is

NOTE FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Ihe Company adopted lAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities on April 2008 FS 157 detines tai salue provides grads icc or

measuring fair aleie and requires certain disclosures LAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurenients but rather applies

to all other accounti ag pronouncements that requiic or peimit fair sale measurements

9AS 157 discusses sale ation techniques such as market appioach conipa able market prices the income approach pre sent value of

future income or cash flow and thc cost approach cost rep ace the sers ice capacity of an asset or replacement cost lhe statement

utilizes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to saluatio techniques used to measuie fair clue ii to thiee bioad lea els

The folloss ing is brief desci iption of tI use three levels

Lea eli Quoted prices in active niarke for identical as sets or liabilities

Level Observable ira ketbased aputs other if an ca ci inputs such as quote prices for similar assets or liab lities in active

markets quoted prices for similar or identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not actis or othei inputs that are observable

or can be corroboratO h3 ohscrs able market data

Level ttnohsers able Oputs that are supported
hr tie or no market actis ity such as discounte cash floss methodologies

Ihe Company population of fnancial assets and liabilities subject to tur aloe iceasurenieuts and the necessary disclosures as

fohloss ui thousands

Fair Value Lleaeirenae sic

as of \lsreh St 2009
lair\atueas

Using Fai atue tlierarchc
at Starch at

2009 evel evel cccl

Financial assets

ash and cash equvatcnts 523 216 52316

Asailabe for-sate markeiahtc seceirittes 20t03 70103

NOTE CRIMSON ACQUISITION

Fffctis fpril 30 2008 the Compans completed its acquistion of imson whereby the Company acquiied all of th issued end

outstanding capital stock of Crimson for approximately 819 mill on in cash and 103000 shares of the Companys common stock

valued at approximately $d ml lion Crimson was pros ider of hosted data analytics and business intelligence softcare to hospitals

health systems and pFi sician clinics he acquisition pairs the Conapanys best practices research and process insights as ith riinsons

decision based tools to enable the Compan merihers to improve chiiaical resource utilization and outcomes in heahlhcaie market

that is increasnglv focused on value based pu chasing pay-for performance an enhanced physician ma sagement



The Crimson acquisition has been accounted for as business combination under Statement of Financial ccounting Standards

No 141 Business omhiizations In addi ion to approximately 9.0 million in cash and $4.7 million of common stock the purchae

price included an additional SO million for post-closing pui chase prie adjustitient to $3.4 million of additional cash payments

due and payable if certain milestones are met over the esaluation periods beginning at the acquisition date through btsreh 31 2010

and $0.2 milio of acquisiLori iclated transaction costs including actua and estimated legal accounting and other professio lal fees

dircctly related to toe acquisition lh additional paymeois scbjecL to milestones are estiniatcd by manageme dnd perlion

dee sed probable of payment Co vpany paid $2.3 million in cash tSar achiever lent of sonic of these milestones in the ear ended

\tareh 31 2009 Ss of Maich 31 2009 the estimated remaining balance of these cash pat ments asas approximately SO.8 nul ion

In accordance as ith the agrecment 51 192 shares were released from csc row Daceinber 31 0O8 he remaining shares of the

Companys common stock viii be held in escroas through 1ecember 31 2009 to satisfy any post closing indemnification obligations

of the Crimsin stockholders nd released according to the agreement subject to the satisfaction of
any

claims The $4.7 million

of common stock issued is non cash ins esting and finarcing activity As of Mai ch 31 2009 the total purchase price is alued at

approximately $27.1 million subject 10 adjustment of the fohoaairg estimated transaction costs settement of the escroas and potential

unknots contingencies and additional cash payments related to the previously mentioned milestones uhich are estimated ha nian

.igemcnt Crimson physician management subscription agreements
include decision based tools aaluch are hosted on the nipanes

servers and re ned exenue is recognired ratably over the term nf the aeement he Company has included the esults of opci at inns

of Crimson frnm the effecttae date of the acquisition Pro fornia finarcial information for this acquisition has not been presented

because the effects asere not material to he Compa ys historical consolidated financial statements

The total purchase rice is composed of the following in thousands

ash paid in rinsson sioktsolcters 519100

Shares held in esuross 25

Post closing purchase price ad istnient

tequis lion related iraisacLa 11 ISiS 1145

\lanageme sts estimate of actdi tonal ash pas inents 061

Thtat purchr se price 142 04

Purchase price allocation

fhe total purchase pi ice was allocated to Crinsons tangible and separately identifiable iitangihle assets acquircd and liabilities

assumed based on managements estima of their fair yak es as of April 30 2008 he total purchase price was allocated as set fcrth

below in thousands

Current issetS

dccii assets

Acquired deseloped technotog1

ustomer eled nt ingible asse

coodwi It

Delerrcd tax tiaSilits t4Ol

Gui rent liabilities

teferred reven 3920

total purchase rice 52074

The Compans fair value of identifiable intangible assets was based in part on valuation completed by an independent aluation

firm
using an income approach from market participant perspective and estimates and assumptions pros ided by management INc

acquired developed technology and customer related intangible assets have estimated lives of nine years and six years iespectiveh

athich is consistent with the cash flow estimates used to create the valuation models of each identifiable asset Consistent with

Ne Coinuanys classificati of similar assets the acquired des eloped technology is included in property and equipmen net and the

customer related mtangible is included in intangible assets net on the consolidated balance sheets The excess of the purchase price

iver the let aneible and identifiable intangible assets has been recorded as goodwill arid is not deductible for tax purp ses

he Company has finalized lhc aluatio of certain intangible assats The final aalua on of goodwill will be suniect to the final

purchase price as discussed earlier



NOTE MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The
aggregate value amortized cost gross

unrealized gains and
gross

unrealized losses on available-for-sale marketable securities are

as follows in thousands

As of March 31 2009

Gross Gross

Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Value Cost Gains Losses

US government agency obligations 30153 29525 666 $38
Washington D.C tax exempt obligations 3618 3549 69

Tax exempt obligations of other states 36332 35010 1322

70103 68084 $2057 $38

As of March 31 2008

Gross Gross

Fair mortized Unrealized Unrealized

Value Cost Gains Losses

U.S government agency obligations 84524 83099 $1425

Washington i.C tax exempt obligations 5938 5726 212

Tax exempt obligations of other states 41696 40959 737

$132158 129784 52374

The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities in thousands

As of March 31 2009

Fair Market Amortized

Value Cost

Matures in less than year 8385 8270

Matures after year through years 43449 41711

Matures after years through 10 years 18269 18103

$70103 $68084

The weighted average maturity on all marketable securities held by the Company as of Ivtarch 31 2009 was approximately 4.1 years

Net unrealized gains on the Companys investments of $2.0 million as indicated tthove were caused by the decrease in market interest

rates compared to the average interest rate of the Companys marketable securities portfolio Of this amount $0.1 million is related to

investments that mature before March 31 2010 The Company purchased certain of its investments at premium or discount to their

relative fair values and the contractual cash flows of these investments are guaranteed by an agency of the U.S government or other

wise fully insured The Company has reflected the net unrealized gains and losses net of tax in accumulated other comprehensive

income in the consolidated balance sheets

NOTE MEMBERSHIP FEES RECEIVABLE

Membership fees receivable cotosist of the following in thousands

As of March 3t

2008 2009

Billed fees receivable $30792 29880

Unbilled fees receivable 33723 89597

84515 119477

Allowance for uncollectihie revenue 2977 2738

Membership fees receivable net $81538 $116739

Billed fees receivable represent invoiced membership fees Unbilled fees receivable primarily represent fees due tobe billed to members

who have elected to pa on an installment basis



NOTE PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Proporta and uipincnt consists of tho fol oss ing in thousanc

ksot\trct
.o

2008 2009

ene oi 1.1 15151

coil we ale and equip rent t4.27 16199

801 se 1618 27285

12 58635

icc nulicd dcprcsition ol that on 19 329 24479

crts aid equipirent net 22 897 34156

Id ac capitalized lea es nduded in propet to and eqcipment or se pc ft di esented

NOTE INCOME TAXES

he pros isbn for 10cm tax consos oc the followniq in thu sands1

zo cue Si ch

p007 21 08 2009

urrent 111 099 6482

Uefei ed 12 938 911 3635

Pm lion or inc nt xes 314049 816 012 $10117

he pros isbn or come ses differs frot se amount of income ares deter rnned ho applying the applicable ineo sic tax ste tutory

rates to incoir hefo ptos Non for income taxes as ioiiosst

200 3608 2009

Sialuto .9 tcderal men oc ix ate 391u 13 35.0%

ate .iieoo Lx net des coni tax benefit 2.2

as sax Nt iotrest ii sine 1.6 1.6

QI Cit ci n.e sac edits 341 3.4 5.0

OIhm pcrrsat st differences net 1.4

fiect se lx ale 3390 3.3 32.0%

Dcfermd nconse taxes are pros idedfo1 temporary differences etsseen ftc tax hasee of assets aid had lities one their reporte amonn

in he consolidated tinanctal statenie The tax ffect of thea tent oi are differences is prcs ftc eloss in thousands

Iso .811 h3t

008 2009

Deferred icote tax asets abilities

Net opctatinp loss crrsts r\srus 6114

cc it earn for sai di 362 5687

Deeerrcd sompensa en accrued for ma ictal reporting purpo ci 2931

Stocts sec ro slpensats 72 11772

Reservi for unco lectthle rca ens Itt 1096

Othet 497 643

lot def red ta iSiS 25 19 22129

apitaliied sottis are deselopment costs p4653 6721

tqnre mu glIdes lromn rinsion 2031
Deerrect inc fIns ic ensauon and ot er Pc erred barges 1243 1185

Unrealized ins naslabieforsale is eurilics 832 705
Den ccii to 662 764
Other 183 85

Total defeired tax liabi times 11491

Ccl deferred irlconle tax assets 81 U2 10638



In estimating futuic tax consequences
hAS 109 genera1l considers all expected future ci cuts in the determination and evaluation

of defei red tax assets and liabilities Ihe Coinpars heliese that its stimated future taxable scome wil be sufficient fu the fu

realication of its deferred income tax assets hAS 109 does not consider the effect futs re changes in existing laws or rates in the

deteimination and esaluation of deferred tax assts and liabilities unt the iess tax Gus or rates are nacted

she Co opant adopted the
pros isioiis of FIN 48 on Apiil 2107 and there is as no difterence between rhe nor nts of unrecognized

tax benefits ieeognii.ed in the halo cc sheet pr or to the adoption of Ih 18 aid tho.e aher the adoption of FIN 48 there were no

unreognized tax benefits al Maich 31 2008 and March 31 2009 the ompiny classi tes interest and penaltes rn ms unrecofniied

tix benefits as iponent of the pros ision or income taxes Thwe ise no interest an penalties iceogniced in the onsu idated

statenient of mci me for th fscal
years

cured Mar 31 2007 2008 and 2009 511 Cu exceptions the Comp ins no longer subject

to ledetal state and heal tax examnations for hi ngs in lajor tax jurisdictions chic 2003

During he Meal year
ended arch 31 2009 die Comf any fulls utilized its icr cia net serating loss arr foiwaid ro offeet

taxable income

Washington D.C income tax incentives

he Offic Tax and Revenue of thc inc nment cf the Dist id of olornhia the Oflic ofT id Reve sue pr ides regulations

it dify the income and anchise tax sales and we ax and pcrsonal pw pertv regulat rtns fur Qualified high Technology

Companes QlIfC doii3 business in th District of Columbia

In February 2tt06 the Company recived notificat on fr on the fice of fax and Revenue that our ceitification as QF1 IC under the

Ness conoiny Transfc rmation Act of 21111 the Get had been accepted effective as of jam ary 201 As QHTC he umpany

Washingto D.C statutory inc nor tax rate seas COG through calendar year 2008 and 6.Oh thereafter sei iris 97SF prior to his

qualification Under the Act thc Company is also eligible for certain Mashingt in income tax credits and other benefits

NOTE 10 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive mconie consists of net income p1us the neGof tax mpact of urn ealized gains and losses on cer am ins estments in debt

securities Comprehensive income for the tiscal scars ended March 31 200 2008 and 2009 was 828.9 imllion $34.8 million and

821 million iespectiveh the accumulated elements of other comprehensive income let of tax uiclu led is ithni stockholde ecuits

on the consolidated balance sheets are en nprised solely of net unre diced gains and losses niai setable securities ne of applict hie

NOTE 11 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

In 2009 goodwill inc cased by 819 million due to the
acquis lion ofCrirnson scussed in NoteS Goodwill is not amortized as it has

estimated infinite life

Included in the Companys other intangibles balances are acquired intingibles and internalls developed capitalized software for sale

utangible assets with lirite lives are amortized on straight line basis oser thAi estimated useful lives isli cO lange fiom three to ten

years As of March 31 2009 the weighted aserage estimated useful lives os acquired intangibles are years with neighted as ci age

remaining life approximattis veai As March 31 2009 the weighted aserage
estimated useful lives on internally deseloped

intangibles are 30 years with weifhted aveiage remaining life ofapproximatels 1eaw Ihe gloss and net carrying balances and

accumulated amortization of othei intangibles are as fofloss in thousands

As 10 rch 31 2005 As of March 3i 2009

Gross Carr ins Ace siulate Mt ng Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amount kni semicolon tow inl Amount Amortization Amount

nternaliy des tiopo in ingihk

apt allied software 977 8112 SM $1973 231 $1742

Acquired intanghlcs

Descloped ttssare 738 4116 332 738 554 184

Customer contracts 114 63 51 3313 776 2537

Total othr intangibles 11829 5581 51 248 $6024 $1561 $4463

Amortication expense for other itangible assets for the tiscal years end
ng

vlaieh 31 2007 2008 and 2009 iecorded in cost of sales

on the
accompanying

consolidated statements of income ii as appioximately $0 million $0.3 intl ion and 810 million respect ively

he following approxinia es the anticipated aggrgate arnortication expense for each of the following fCc fiscal years
ended March 31

2010 through 2014 .2 nillion $1.2 milion 807 million $0.5 niillion and 80.1 million iespectisel



NOTE 12 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Equity incentive plans

On November 15 2005 the Company adopted the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan the 2005 Plan 2005 Plan provides for the anard

of stock op ions stock appreciation rights restricted stock rmtricted stock ui its and incentive bonuses Options granted may not

hase term exceeding seven years and l5picallv sest over foui lears Ec uitv awards granted pursuant to the 2005 Plan may inlv he

granted to the Companys directors ofcers independent contractors employees and prospective employees Ihe
aggregate number

of sares of the Companys common stock axailable for issuance onde the 2005 Plan may not exceed 1600 000 shares plus any

remnatniiig shares not issued under the prior plans As of MaRh 31 2009 there were 359861 remaining shaies available for issuance

under the 2005 Plan

On November 15 2006 th Company idopted the 2006 Stock scentive Plan the 2006 Plani The 2006 Plan orovides or the an ird

oI stock options stock appreciation rigbts restricted stock restricted stock uOits and mcentis bonuses Options granted ma\ not

have term exceeding fte years and typically test oxer four ears Fquitt assaids granted pursuant to the 2006 Plan niav ontv he

granted to the Crmpans directors oFcers independent contractors employees and prospectise emploees The aggregate number

of shares of the Compans common stock avail shlc for issuanec nder the 2006 Plan mas not exceed 1200000 shares ks of March 31

2009 there ssee i65.870 remaining hare available for issuance under the 2006 Plan

Ihe 2005 Plan and tI-c 2006 Plan the Plans me administered brthe Compensation Committee of the Compan Board of Directors

uhich Jsas the authority to determine which oficers directors and employees are awaided octions or share awards pursuant to the

Plans ant to determine the teims of the assards Grants mat consist of treasurl shares or nessly issued shares Options are rights to

purchase common stock of the Company at the fair market value on the date of
grant he exercise price of stock option or othei

equits based assard is equal to the closing price
of the Conipan common stock on the date of giant The Compant generally assards

non qualmfied options but the Plans do alit fom options to qualmfs as incentis stock options under Section 422 of the Internal

Revenue Code Stock appreciation rights are eqs ity
settled stock based compensation arrangements whei eby the number of shares that

ssill ultimatel be issued is based
upon tie appreciation of the Companys commcn stock and the number of awards granted to an

individual Restricted stock units are equity settled stock-based compensation arrangements of number of shares of the Companys

common stock Holders 01 options and stock appreciation ights do not participate in dividends if any until alter the exercise of the

rward RestricLed stock unit holders do riot partie pate in dividends if any nor do they hate voting rights until the restrictions lapse

As of Marcl 31 2009 total of ll257o1 shares nere mailable or issuance under the Plans

Employee stock purchase plan

Compans spunso an employee stock purchase plan ESPP lor all eligible employees Under the ESPP employees authoriae

payroll deductions fmom 1o to t5o of their eligible compensatio to pur base shares of the Companys common stock Shares of thc

Compan co nmnon stock may he purchased under the F.SPP at the end of each fiscal quartei at 85o of the closing price ot the

Companss common stock the last da1 of the three month purchase period total of 842000 shares of the Compant common
stock ire authorixed under the ESPP As of Maich 31 2009 total of 765141 shares acre available for issuance under the LSPP

Valuation assumptions and equity based award activity

As discussed in Note deter nining the estimated fair ahie of stock based awards is judgmental in nature and ins oNes the ue of

significart estimates and assumptions scluding the tei of the stoek-hasd awards risk-free interest rates oser the vesting period

cxpected dividend rates the price solatilih of the Companys shares and forfeiture rates of the assards

Black-Scholes stock option valuation model

Under the I-AS 123R antI FAS 123 accounting guidance the .ompanv used the Black Seholes model to estimate thc fair value of its

stock option grants The expected term for its stock options was ectermined through analysis of historical data on employee cxc cises

esting period of assards and post vesting employment termination behax ior The rtsk-frce interest rate is based on 1rcasur

bonds issued with si isilai ide terms to the expected life of the grant Volatilits is calculated based on historical solatilit of thc dail5

lo5ing picc of our tock ccnitiiuuusl mprundcd with ook hack pciiod sinilar to rhe ieins of he expected life of the grant he

Company has not declared or paid any
cash dividend on its common stock since the closing of its initial public offering and does not

currently anticipate declarng or paying any cash dtvidends The timing and amnoun of future cash dividends if any is periodically

esaluated by the Companys Board of Directors and would depend upon among other factors the Companys earnings financial

condition and cash requirements

Valuation for restricted stock units

RSUs are salued at the giant date closing price of the Companys eonimon stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market Nasdaq



Valuation for employee stock purchase rights

The value of employee stock purchase rights for shares of stock purchased under the ESPP is determined as the fair market value of

the underlying shares on the date of purchase as determined by the closing price the Companys common stock on Nasdaq less the

purchase price which is 85% of the closing price of the Companys common stock Ihe ESPP enrollment begins on the first day of

the quarter Stock purchases occur on the last day of the quarter with only eligible employee payroll deductions for the period used to

calculate the shares purchased There is no estimate of grant date fair value or estimated forfeitures since actual compensation expense

is recorded in the period on the purchase date The fair value of employee stock purchase rights is equivalent to 15% discount of the

purchase date closing price Effective April 2009 the purchase price for shares of common stock purchased under the ESPP will be

95% of the closing price of the Companys common stock with the fair value of employee stock purchase rights being equivalent to

5% discount of the purchase date closing price

Forfeitures

FAS 123R requires forfeitures to he estimated at the time of grant and adjusted if necessary in subsequent periods if actual

forfeitures differ from those estimates The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience Stockbased compensation expense is

recognized on straight line basis net of an estimated forfeiture rate for only those shares expected to vest over the requisite

service period of the award which is generally the option vesting term and can range from two to four years For the periods prior to

fiscal 2007 the Company accounted for forfeitures in the proforma information required under FAS 123 as they occurred When

estimating forfeiture rate the Company considers historical prevesting forfeiture rates historical employee attrition and expected

attrition rates to estimate forfeitures The Company will adjust its estimates of forfeitures over the vesting period based on the extent

to which actual forfeitures differ or are expected to differ from such estimates Changes in estimated forfeitures will he recognized

through cumulative catchup adjustment in the period of change and will also impact the amount of compensation expense to be

recognized in future periods

The Company calculates the fair value of each stock option award on the date of grant using the BlackSchoIes valuation model The

following average key as .sumptions were used in the model to value stock option grants for each respective period

Year Ended March 31

2017 2008 2009

Stock option grants

Riskfree interest rate 4.70% 4.20% 2.91%

Expected lives in years
4.2 3.8 4.0

Expected volatility
27.80% 25.80% 28.40%

Dividend yield
0.00% 000% 0.00%

Weighted average grant date Dir value of options granted $15.85 $15.28 $12.08

Number of shares granted 370825 12500 437911

The expected term for the Companys stock options was determined through analysis of historical data on employee exercises vesting

periods of awards and post-vesting employment termination behavior

Stock option activity

During the fiscal
years

ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company granted 370825 12500 and 437911 stock options with

weighted average exercise price of $51.95 $58.12 and $44.64 respectively The weighted average
fair value of the stock option grants

are in the valuation table above During the fiscal years ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 participants exercised 560071 650991

and 18625 options for total intrinsic value of $20.0 million $19.5 million and $0.4 million respectively Intrinsic value is calculated

as the number of shares exercised times the Companys stock price at exercise less the exercise price of the option

Restricted stock unit activity

During the fiscal
years

ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company granted 137925 3200 and 158933 RSUs The valuation

of RSUs is determined as the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant
the weighted average grant date fair value

of RSUs granted for the fiscal years ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 was $51.57 $51.77 and $44.76 respectively During the

fiscal
years

ended March 31 2007 2008 and 2009 participants vested 71577 and 90755 RSVs for total intrinsic value of $0 S3.8

million and $1.5 million respectively Of the 90755 RSUs vested in fiscal 2009 27943 shares were withheld to satisfy minimum

employee tax withholding Intrinsic value is calculated as the number of shares vested times the Companys closing stock price at the

vesting date

Employee stock purchase rights activity

The weighted average
fair value of employee stock purchase rights for shares purchased under the ESPP for the fiscal years ended

March 3i 2008 and 2009 was $8.69 and $4.00 respectively



The loll swing table su smarixes the changes in common sto options duGng fiscal 2009 for all of the stock been se plans

desci bee above

Jur it er \Vcighiecl Average

ot Dptions Exercis Prce

Gu it icing M- ish 31 200 14599

cOcci 437911 .64

scrcssad 18 62 522.48

orkied .9300 33 811

Outstanding March 31 2009 2835765 $42.73 4.75

Exercisable 2284626 $41.28 4.79

Ihe aggi gale str iisic sa oe in the ta Ic ahoy .hc so is of ftc arncu its b5 arch the quoted market
price of our sinsor sloe1

exceeded tI-c cx rcise price ol the opticrìs at Ma ci 31 2009 those pinns for siluch the quoce market pr cc is ii csccss cit se

cxc vise price this nount angcs time sed on cbs
ig in air mu kt alue of ide Conspars ock fiscal 2109

oS 532 opTions scslce

scre sicre 187342 RSIs outatandine as of March 31 t108 Di dug ic fisca veer enSed Msreh ii 2009 158933 RSI \vrx gr.ntcc

90253 RSI vested and 13.275 RSIs were fhrfeited 311 larch 31 2009 12443 RSLs we outstanding The ighiec ci age

f-air ib of RSLs granted rio
rig

irs -sl 2119 was $4 76 he era cr of which ScsI fl four equal annual inst illments the

inn cersar of the grant date

hr floss in table ummari cs the ac is its ler the SPP for he per ii di prrscn ed

Sc Los1 ed di
20W 2008 2009

Cures rssocd order LSPP 14844

S0crghtcd rags ulase prec is lbs usda15 $22.67

iota cash received Cr SPP purchases 337

sin Med icr ag pureh se right furs slur 4.00

ut-al mi IW meLon cx rise in lb sands 59

Compensation expense

Tc
swans ecognried thc follosi mg sto -k based compens Iron cvpe se in tie statements of mome line tems for stock

op in is

id RSUs issued un er Is stock sneentise plans and for shares issued codes the FSPP according FAS 123R iv the fiscal sea

ided Viach ci 2007 2008 and 2009 5M shousarrds

seirli des vii

200 2008 2009

Stock-based compensation expense included in

o.s and exoer scs

Cos of ytciT 1358 4273

ember relarions -sod marketing 2252 2.5W 2436

General and ad ninistratse 0811 5406 5738

Dc irceratron

lowl costs arid expenses 12 000 12 563 12447

Triune irons operations 12 000 12 63 12447

Net come 7933 8380 8464

In addition the Company recognized approximately $0 a- illion $0 million arid aOl rmllron in compensation expense rcflcting

additional l.cderal Insurance orponation Act taxes as result of tie taxable income that employees recognized upon the cxc cisc ot

non-qualified common stock options and RSUs in fiscal 2007 2008 and 009 nespec lively

We gbted As crane

Renramnhrig

Con -suits 1rrm

im miss

Agg egaie

10 musts

lmsc

Cml

10163

43 0-

40
7.60

940

9.20

312

869

74

them-c are no stock-based corlspcnsatiorm costs capitalixed as part the cost of an asset



St wk-based compensation expei se by ass ard type is below in thousands

iai od March 31

2007 2008 2009

Stock-based compensation expense by award type

Stock option 310 153 8933 7209

R.trictcd ict u.jits 1Th8 5179

Employer itock purchase rights
59

total stock based compencanon I2 000 812 363 $12447

As of \Iarcn 31 119 917.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock based compensation is expected to he

recognized oser wcightrd aseiagc pciiod of 1.6 years

Tax benefits

the Comp my also incurred additional compensation deductions for tax reporting purposes but not for financial reporting purposes

that increased the defeiied tax asset to reflect allossable tax deductions Ihese tax deductions will he iealizcd in the deteinsinatiun

of the Conipa sy
income tax liability

and therefoi
ci

reduce tie Companys future income lax pay ments In connection is tb these

transactions the Companys deferred tax as et increased by approximately So million 13.9 milion and aO.3 million in isca

2008 and 2009 respectis clv Although the provision for income taxes for financial reporting purposes did not change tie Co ups tys

actua cash payments iii be reduced as the deferred tax asset iii lOrd Pursuant to lAS 123R the Company has repo ted the

benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized ho compensation expense as ftnanctng cash infloss in the iccomp my 103

consolidated statement of cash flons in fiscal 2008 and 2009 Approximately 859 million and 90.3 million of tax henefils ssoeiatcd

isith the exercise of employee stock options isere recorded as cash from financing actisities in fiscal 2008 and 2009 rcspcctneh

NOTE 13 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating leases

Ihc Company leases its headquarters space the Lease under an operating lease that expires in 2019 Leasehold improvements

related to the lease are depreciated over the term of the lease and totaled approximately 99.1 ml lion net and $11.9 million net as of

March 31 2008 and 2009 respectiselv Ihe terms of the Lease contan pros isions forte stal escalation and the Compane is equired to

pay its portion of executory costs such as taxes insurance and operat ng expenses Ihe Company also leases small oilier spaces in

Portland Oregon Austin Iexas and San Francisco California The Oregon lease expires in June 2011 the lexas lease in klaich 20

and the California lease in November 2012 Ihe Companys aggregate future minrnum lease payments excluding rental escalation

and executory costs are as folloss in thousands

Mar ii din ii rh ii

20t0 6230

2011 11

2012 3111

2013 367

2014 534
Fhcrcalter 02

tutu 857137

Rent and executory expense during the fiscal years ended March 31 200L 2008 and 2009 5505 approximately $3.3 million 969 mil

lion and 88 rnllion tespectively

Credit facility

In Noseniber 2006 the ulpans entered into $20 million resols ing
ciedit

facility is tb commercial bank that can us

for isorking captal share repurchases or other gcneral corporate pur uses Borross ings under the credit facility if ant wil

collateralized by certain of the Companys uuarketable secoi ills and is ill hear Merest at in amount hascd on thc published IPOR

rate the mpan is so rcquired lo maintain an nterest vcrage tio for ach of its fiscal
years

of not less than three tue lhe

credi faci
ity

rcneiss automaticalls cach year until 2011 and can he increased at the request of the Com ant by as much as $10 iiltion

per year no to an aggregate maximuna increase of $50 million Ihcrc hase been no borross in gs under the edit facility

Benefit plan

he Cornpar sponsors defunc intnibution 401 pla tth 401k Plan or all en pin yecs silo have reached the age
if liven

one riot to Mar 2f 09 the Company provided discrc ionary contributions equal to 50% of an cmplo3 ces contri it tin up to

may mum of 4h of base salary Effectise Match 2009 the Compny ceased to pros ide discrello sary con uibutions to the 1k
Plan Contributions to the 401k Plan for the fiscal sears ended Maich 31 200 2008 and 2009 55cm approximately 50.9 uudlion 31.1

million and llion espectis ely



Litigation

From time to time the Company is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its normal business operations The Company is

currently not party to and its property is not subject to any material legal proceedings

NOTE 14 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On May 28 2009 the Company made $1.0 million loan to an unrelated service provider that is secured by certain of its assets The

principal amount of the loan together with interest thereon accruing at an annual rate of 4.75% becomes due and payable on October

31 2009 In addition the entity issued to the Company as part of the transaction warrant to purchase shares of its preferred stock

The warrant expires on May 29 2014 The Company may enter into an agreement to license the service providers technology in

connection with potential new membership program

NOTE 15 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

TJnaudited summarized financial data by quarter for the fiscal years ended March 31 2008 and 2009 is as follows in thousands except

per share amounts

Fiscal 2008 Quarter Ended

June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31

Revenue S51104 S54029 855912 857926

Income from operations 9084 1243 10234 11371

Income before provision for income taxes 10621 12797 1.863 12793

Net income 7.081 8536 7912 8533

Earnings per share

Basic 0.39 047 044 0.48

Diluted 0.38 045 042 047

Fiscal 2009 Quarter Ended

June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31

Revenue $57217 $57625 $59315 $56203

Income from operations 8287 7033 7761 5868

Income before provision for income taxes 9491 7981 8535 5579

Net income 6330 5403 5830 3905

Earnings per share

Basic 0.36 0.32 0.37 0.25

Diluted 0.36 0.32 0.37 0.25



REPORT OF MANAGEMENTS ASSESSMENT OF
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The 4dvisor Board Company and SuIridiaiies

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our Annual Report

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

and include amounts based on managements estimates and judgments All other financial information in this report has been

presented on basis consistent with the information included in the consolidated financial statements

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting We maintain

system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliable preparation and presentation of the

consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as well as to safeguard assets from

unauthorized use or disposition

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in our Code of

Ethics for Employees Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors and Code of Ethics for Finance

Team Members Our internal control over financial
reporting is supported by formal policies and procedures which are reviewed

modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors which is composed solely of outside directors meets periodically with members of

management and the independent registered public accounting firm to review and discuss internal control over financial reporting

and
accounting

and financial reporting matters The independent registered public accounting firm reports to the Audit Committee

and accordingly has full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time

Management with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conducted an evaluation of the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31 2009 based on the framework in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission This evaluation included

review of the documentation of controls evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls testing of the operating effectiveness of

controls and conclusion on this evaluation Based on this evaluation management has concluded that our internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of March 31 2009

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of internal

control over financial
reporting which is included herein

Robert Musslewhite

Chief Executive Officer and Director

June 12 2009

Michael Kirshhaum

Chief Ft nancial Officer and Treasurer

June 12 2009



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF THE ADVISORY BOARD COMPANY AND

SUBSIDIARIES

We have audited The Advisory Board Companys internal control over financial reporting as of March 31 2009 based on criteria

established in internal ControlJntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission the COSO criteria The Advisory Board Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal

control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the eflbctiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Report of Managements Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances

We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

cnnspanys internal control over financial repor ing is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accoLinting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to

the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directos of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion The Advisory Board Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting

as of March 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as of March 31 2018 and 2009 and the related

consolidated statements of income changes in stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

March 31 2019 and our report dated June 12 2109 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Baltimore Maryland

June 12 2019
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock from the

date of our initial public offering through March 31 2009 with the cumulative total return on the

Russell 2000 Index the Nasdaq Composite Index and the SP 500 Index for the same period The

graph assumes that $100 was invested in our common stock and in each of the other indexes on

November 12 2001 and that any dividends were reinvested The comparisons in the graph below

are based on historical data with our common stock prices based on the closing price on the date

of the initial public offering and thereafter and are not intended to forecast the possible future

performance of our common stock

Comparison of the Cumulative Total Return Among The Advisory Board Company

the Russell 2000 Index the SP 500 Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index

Comparison of Eight-Year Cumulative Total Return Assumes Initial Investment of $1 00

$300

$250

$200

$150

$100

$50

$0
11.12.2001 312002 3.31.2003 31.2004 331 2005 331 2006 3.31.2007 31.2008 331 2009

The Advisory Board Company Russell 2000 Index

SP 500 Index Nasdaq Composite Index

The Advisory Russell SP 500 Nasdaq

Board Company 2000 Index Index Composite Index

November 122001 $100 $100 $100 $100

March3l2002 $17.1 $116 $103 $100

March 31 2003 $184 $84 $78 $73

March3l2004 $193 $138 $105 $110

March3l2005 $230 $146 $112 $110

March 31 2006 $294 $183 $125 $130

March 312007 $267 $194 $140 $136

March 31 2008 $289 $169 $133 $129

March3l2009 $87 $106 $82 $87
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THE ADVISORY BOARD COMPANY
2445 Street1 NW Woshington DC 20037

Telephone 202.266.5600 Fox 202.266.5700

www.oclvisorybonrdcompnny.con


